THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC10-2366

Petition from the Third District Court of Appeal Case No. 3D09-1932, CONSOLIDATED 3D09-1897

(Lower Tribunal Numbers PERC 09-011, 09-030, 09-036)

JUSTIN KOREN,

Petitioner,

v.

SCHOOL BOARD OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF

Thomas E. Elfers, Esq. Florida Bar No: 0785751 4036 SW 148 Lane Miami, Florida 33186 786-232-8074 Office 786-232-8088 Facsimile

I.

B. Statement of Relevant Facts					
	1.	Petitioner Assists in the Morris Civil Rights Charge	10		
	2.	Leal Snubs Petitioner as Rookie Teacher of the Year	12		
	3.	Leal Falsely Accuses Petitioner of "Job Abandonment"	12		
	4.	Leal Falsely Accuses Petitioner of Misuse of Password	13		
	5.	Petitioner is Suspended and Escorted Out of Southwood	19		
	6.	Petitioner is Involuntarily Transferred	21		
	7.	Petitioner is Passed Over for Ass'st Principal Development	22		
	8.	Petitioner is Given Further Discipline	23		
IV.	IV. Summary of Argument				
V.	V. Argument with Regard to Each Issue				
A. Under Burlington, Petitioner Suffered Materially Adverse Action 2					
	1.	The Applicable Standards	25		
	2.	Direct Evidence is Uncommon	26		
	3.	Elements of the Circumstantial Prima Facie Case	26		

	4.	Adverse Employment Action Modified by Burlington	27	
E	3. Em <u>յ</u>	oloyer was Aware & Adverse Actions not Wholly Unrelated	35	
	1.	Two Elements: Awareness - Actions not Wholly Unrelated	35	
	2.	Relatedness Shown Through Temporal Proximity	36	
	3.	Temporal Proximity Not the Only Test	42	
VI.	VI. Conclusion			
Certificate of Compliance				
Certificate of Service				
Appe	Appendix: Table of Attachments			

II. TABLE OF CITATIONS

Bass v. Board of County, No. 97-00308-CIV-ORL-18 (11th Cir. 2001). P. 29.

Bigge v. Albertson's Inc., 894 F.2d 1497 (11th Cir. 1990). Pp. 19, 29.

Brown v. Northside Hospital, No. 08-13051 (11th Cir. 2009). P. 21.

Bruner v. GC-GW, Inc., 880 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004). P. 23.

Brungart v. Bellsouth Telecommunications, Inc., 231 F.3d 791 (11 Cir. 2000) P. 29.

Burgos v. Chertoff, No. 07-12954 (11th Cir. 2008). P. 21.

Burgos-stefanelli v. Sec'y, No. 0:09-cv-60118-DTKH, 8 (11th Cir., 2011). P. 32.

Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. White, 548 U.S. 53, 126 S. Ct. 2405 (2006). Pp. 1, 16, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 33, 36, 37.

Butler v. Alabama Dept. of Transp., 536 F.3d 1209 (11th Cir., 2008). P. 21.

Carter v. Health Management Associates, 989 So.2d 1258 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2008). P. 19.

City of Coral Gables v. Coral Gables Walter F. Stathers Mem'l Lodge 7, Fraternal Order of Police, 976 So. 2d 57 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008). P. 23.

Clark County School Dist. v. Breeden, 532 U.S. 268 (2001). P. 36.

Cooper v. Southern Co., 390 F.3d 695 (11th Cir. 2004). P. 30.

Crawford v. Carroll, 529 F.3d 961 (11th Cir. 2008). P. 22.

Da Costa v. Public Employees Relations Commission, 443 So.2d 1036 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). P. 37.

Doe v. Dekalb County School Dist., 145 F.3d 1441 (11th Cir. 1998). P. 24.

Donnellon v. Fruehauf Corp., 794 F.2d 598 (11th Cir. 1986). P. 31.

Donovan v. Broward County Bd. of Commissioners, 974 So.2d 458 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008). Pp 1, 17, 22.

Doyal v. Marsh, 777 F.2d 1526 (11th Cir. 1985). Pp. 19, 30.

Everton v. Willard, 468 So.2d 936 (Fla., 1985). P. 17.

Farley v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 197 F.3d 1322 (11th Cir. 1999). Pp. 29, 31.

Foshee v. Ascension Health-IS Inc., No. 09-16499 (11th Cir. 2010). P. 20.

Gates v. Gadsden County Sch. Bd., No. 1D09-3636 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010). Pp. 1, 16. 22.

Gibbons v. State Public Employees Relations Com'n, 702 So.2d 536 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997). Pp. 2, 17, 19, 29.

Gupta v. Fla. Bd. of Regents, 212 F.3d 571 (11th Cir. 2000). Pp. 29, 30.

Goldsmith v. City of Atmore, 996 F.2d 1155 (11th Cir. 1993). Pp. 29.

Gresham v. City of Florence, No. 08-14625 (11th Cir. 2009). P. 21.

Hairston v. Gainesville Sun Pub. Co., 9 F.3d 913 (Cir. 11 1993). P. 18, 19, 29.

Hester v. North Alabama Center for Educational Excellence, No. 08-17037 (11th Cir. 2009). P. 22.

Higdon v. Jackson, 393 F.3d 1211 (11th Cir. 2004). P. 32.

Hopkins v. Saint Lucie County Sch. Bd., No. 10-11252 (11th Cir. 2010). P. 20.

Jennings v. Uniroyal Plastics Company, 1989 WL 125601 *8 (N.D. Ind. 1989). P. 31.

Jiles v. United Parcel Service, Inc., No. 09-13625 Non-Argument Calendar, 9, 14 (11th Cir., 2010). P. 33.

Jones v. Alabama Power Company, No. 07-15818 (11th Cir. 2008). P. 22.

Juarez v. Ameritech Mobile Communications, Inc., 957 F.2d 317 (7th Cir. 1992). P. 32.

Koren v. Sch. Dist. Of Miami-Dade County, No. 3D09-1932 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2010). Pp. 16, 19, 22. 36, 38.

Laborer's International Union of North America, Local 678 v. Orange County Florida, 18 FPER 2314 (1992). P. 18.

Lindamood v. Office of State Attorney, 832 So.2d 829 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999). P. 23.

Luna v. Walgreen Company, No. 08-15600 (11th Cir. 2009). P. 21.

MacLean v. City of St. Petersburg, 194 F. Supp. 2d 1290 (M.D. Fla. 2002). P. 23.

Mesnick v. General Electric, 950 F.2d 816 (1st Cir. 1991), cert. denied, 504 U.S. 985 (1992). P. 32.

Mize v. Jefferson City Bd. of Educ., 93 F.3d 739 (11th Cir. 1996). P. 30.

National Cement Co. v. Federal Mine Safety and Health Review Com'n, 27 F.3d 526 (11th Cir. 1994). P. 23.

Oliver v. Digital Equipment Corporation, 846 F.2d 103 (1st Cir. 1988). P. 31.

Pasco County School Bd. v. Florida Public Employees Relations Commission, 353 So.2d 108 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977). P. 19, 31.

Raney v. Vinson Guard Service, Inc., 120 F.3d 1192 (11th Cir. 1997). P. 29.

Revere v. McHugh, No. 09-13386, Non-Argument Calendar, 8 (11th Cir. 2010). P. 32.

Ridgely Manufacturing Co. v. NLRB, 166 U.S.App.D.C. 232, 510 F.2d 185 (1975). P. 18.

Rochon v. Gonzales, 438 F. 3d 1211 (D.C. Cir. 2006). P. 28.

Samuelson v. Durkee/French/Airwick, 976 F.2d 1111 (7th Cir. 1992). P. 31.

Saunders v. Emory Healthcare, Inc., No. 09-10283 (11th Cir. 2010). P. 20.

Shannon v. Postmaster General of United States Postal Service, No. 08-16827 (11th Cir. 2009). Pp. 21, 32, 36.

Simmons v. Camden County Board of Education, 757 F.2d 1187 (11th Cir. 1985). Pp. 19, 29.

Singer Company v. NLRB, 429 F.2d 172 (8th Cir. 1970). P. 18.

Snowden v. Daphne, No. 07-15023 (11th Cir. 2008). P. 21.

Sowers v. Kemira, Inc., 701 F. Supp. 809 (S.D. Ga. 1988). P. 31.

Stewart v. Happy Herman's Cheshire Bridge, Inc., No. 96-8689 (11th Cir. 1997). P. 19.

Stone & Webster Engineering Corp. v. Herman, 115 F.3d 1568 (11th Cir. 1997). Pp. 24, 25, 37.

Thomas v. Cooper Lighting, Inc., 506 F.3d 1361 (11th Cir. 2007). Pp. 32, 36.

Thurman v. Robertshaw Control Company, 869 F. Supp. 934 (N.D. Ga. 1994). P. 30.

Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S. 474, 71 S.Ct. 456, 95 L.Ed. 456 (1951). P. 18.

Wascura v. City of South Miami, 257 F.3d 1238 (11th Cir. 2001). P. 32.

Weaver v. Casa Gallardo, Inc., 922 F.2d 1515 (11th Cir.1991). Pp. 19, 29, 31.

Webb v. Florida Health Care Management Corp., 804 So.2d 422 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). P. 23.

West F. Fred Wright Construction Co., 756 F.2d 31 (6th Cir. 1985). P. 32.

Williams v. Apalachee Center, Inc., No. 08-13430 (11th Cir. 2009). P. 21.

Woodruff v. School Board of Seminole County, No. 08-11798 (11th Cir. 2008). P. 21.

Yartzoff v. Thomas, 809 F.2d 1371 (9th Cir.1987). P. 30.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Issue on Appeal

- 1. With respect to sufficiency of a prima facie case for an unfair labor practice (ULP), whether the Third DCA is correct that adverse employment action must consist of "loss of wages or benefits, demotion or similar action," or a "threatening or coercive decision," or whether the reasonable person test cited by the Supreme Court in <u>Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. White</u>, 548 U.S. 53, 71 (2006) and relied upon in <u>Gates v. Gadsden County Sch. Bd</u>. No. 1D09-3636 at 3-4 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010) and <u>Donovan v. Broward County Bd</u>. of <u>Commissioners</u>, 974 So.2d 458, 459 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008) is to be the law.
- 2. With respect to *causal connection* for a ULP prima facie case, whether the Third DCA is correct that Petitioner's nine factual allegations supporting animus¹ are insufficient or whether the Second DCA is correct that "[P]laintiff, at a

Petitioner's principal learned he had assisted a security guard to draft a sexual harassment charge targeting her and commenced a series of vindictive actions against him by" 1) hostilely confronting him shortly afterwards 2) delaying installation of the announcement on the school's marquee to congratulate him as *Rookie Teacher of the Year* until spring break when no one would be present; 3) placing the announcement on the reverse side of the marquee where passers-by could not see it; 3) referring to him as "the mistake;" 4) telling others she would get rid of him, 5) attempting to terminate him for job abandonment eight days after signing his medical leave request; 6) attempting to discipline or discharge him for sharing his computer password even though board policy was merely precatory and no one else had been disciplined; 7) humiliating him in front of students and colleagues by having him summarily escorted from the building; 8) inflicting a three day (paid) disciplinary suspension without due process; and 9) involuntarily transferring him to distant school.

minimum, must establish that the employer was aware of the protected expression when it took the adverse employment action," <u>Gibbons v. State Public Employees</u>

<u>Relations Com'n</u>, 702 So.2d 536, 536-37 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997).

B. Statement of Relevant Facts

Petitioner and Charging Party, Justin Koren ("Petitioner") has been employed by the School Board of Miami-Dade County ("Board" or "District") as a language arts teacher, and has been cited by his peers and superiors for exceptional performance. During the 2008-2009 school year, and up through March 6, 2009, he was assigned to Southwood Middle School ("Southwood"). During that time, Deborah Leal ("Leal" or "Principal Leal") was the principal of Southwood. *Unfair Labor Practice Charge Against Employer, Charge 011, Attachment 1 at* ¶ 4.²

1. Petitioner Assists in the Morris Civil Rights Charge

On February 21, 2008, Security Guard Kimberly Morris requested Petitioner to assist her in drafting a charge of harassment on account of sexual orientation against the District and Principal Leal ("Morris Charge"). School Board Rule 6Gx13-4a-1.32 prohibits discrimination on account of *e.g.* sexual orientation. It also forbids retaliation for assisting someone to file a charge of discrimination, or for participating in an investigation.

2

² Hereafter all references are to Attachment 1 unless otherwise noted in the text.

Notwithstanding, on March 10, 2008, Principal Leal confronted Petitioner about his involvement in drafting the Morris Charge, and, in an accusatory and hostile manner, informed Petitioner that she knew he had authored it. *Charge 011* at ¶ 9. She demanded that he confess. By her tone and manner, Leal let Petitioner know that she considered Petitioner's assistance of Ms. Morris a wrongful act.

This confrontation took place in the presence of a regional union representative, Mr. John Roques. *Charge 011 at ¶ 9*. Leal told Petitioner that her allegation was based upon an "anonymous source." *Charge 011 at ¶ 9*. She made it clear that she took Petitioner's actions personally, and that she would make him pay for it.

On March 19, 2008, Petitioner notified the union, United Teachers of Dade ("UTD" or "Union"), of Leal's action, and filed a grievance against her, alleging that she had violated Article XXI, Section 7, C-1 of the contract:

Employees shall be free from unnecessary, spiteful, or negative criticism or complaints by administrators or other persons. Under no condition shall management representatives express such complaints or criticism concerning an employee in the presence of other employees, students, or parents, nor shall anonymous complaints be processed.

Charge 011 at ¶ 10.

On or about March 24, 2008, Morris filed the charge that Petitioner had assisted her in drafting - Charge #N85317 Civil Rights Compliance - against Principal Leal for harassment related to sexual orientation. *Charge 011 at ¶7*.

The investigation of Charge #N85317 ("Morris Charge") was conducted by the Civil Rights Compliance Office ("CRC") of the Miami-Dade County School District, which is authorized by the Board to examine civil rights complaints.

Charge 011 at ¶ 13. On April 10, 2008, in connection with the Morris Charge, the CRC sent a witness notification letter to Petitioner, which requested his cooperation in the investigation of the Charge. Charge 011 at ¶ 14.

On April 14, 2008 Petitioner met with Ms. Jonaura Wisdom, CRC Investigator, in Petitioner's classroom at Southwood. *Charge 011 at ¶ 15*. He signed a written statement for Wisdom: "I feel that Ms. Leal is retaliating against me ever since I declined to discuss the Ms. Morris matter with her, and she accused me of writing the letter for Ms. Morris." *Charge 011 at ¶ 16*.

2. Leal Snubs Petitioner as Rookie Teacher of the Year

At or about the time Leal confronted Petitioner on March 10, 2008,

Petitioner was voted by Southwood's faculty and staff to be the school's 2008

Rookie Teacher of the Year. *Charge 011 at ¶ 11*.

In response to Petitioner's election, Leal put forward a lukewarm letter of recommendation, dated March 17, 2008. *Charge 011 at ¶ 11*. Dissatisfied with this letter, some members of the school's nominating committee urged Leal to write a more supportive endorsement. Leal refused. *Charge 011 at ¶ 11*. In an email to Committee Chairperson Andrea Floyd, dated March 20, 2008, Leal wrote

that she did "not feel comfortable" writing a stronger endorsement of Petitioner, thereby evincing continuing animus against Petitioner, stemming from her confrontation with him ten days earlier. *Charge 011 at ¶ 11*.

Further demonstrating her animus against Petitioner, Leal instructed school personnel to delay placing the announcement that Petitioner was Southwood's Rookie Teacher of the Year on the marquee outside the school until the beginning of Spring Break 2008, because during the break no one would be coming to the school. *Charge 011 at ¶ 12*. Pursuant to Leal's instructions, the announcement was placed on only one side, facing away from traffic, so that passers-by on the one way street in front of the school could not see it. *Charge 011 at ¶ 12*.

At the regional level, Petitioner's candidacy for Rookie Teacher of the Year was squelched.

3. Leal Falsely Accuses Petitioner of "Job Abandonment"

In August 2008, at the beginning of the 2008-2009 school year, Leal said she had a list of people she wanted to get rid of and that Petitioner was at the top of the list, and that the hiring of Petitioner had been a mistake. She even went so far as to refer to him as "the mistake" to other employees. Leal blamed the previous principal and her secretary for making this mistake; according to Leal, if it had been up to her, it would never have happened. She was looking for a way to get rid of him.

Notwithstanding Leal's posture, Petitioner's evaluations had all been good.

The District's evaluation form, PACES, offers only two categories: "Meets

Standards" and "Does Not Meet Standards." Without exception, Petitioner met standards. He had never been reprimanded or disciplined.

Petitioner suffers from Crohn's disease, a painful, chronic disorder of the digestive system. Petitioner's condition is aggravated by stress. In early September, 2008, after the summer break and three weeks into the new school year, Petitioner's Crohn's disease flared up, causing him to become physically ill, and requiring that he take time off from his job. *Charge 011 at ¶ 17*. Petitioner worked through Friday, September 5, 2008, but could not come to work the following week. He requested a medical leave of absence from Leal. *Charge 011 at ¶ 17*. In connection with seeking medical leave, Petitioner explained his condition to Leal, including the fact that his condition is aggravated by stress.

In response to Petitioner's request for medical leave, Leal signed and dated an official "Leave of Absence" form for Petitioner on September 8, 2008 and checked the "I Recommend Approval" box on the form. *Charge 011 at ¶ 18*.

Notwithstanding that Leal had recommended approval of medical leave for Petitioner, she attempted to terminate him for job abandonment. *Charge 011 at ¶* 19. While Petitioner's request for leave was still pending at the Leave Office, Petitioner received a delivery notice for a certified letter via the United States

Postal Service, and a copy of the same letter via first-class mail, on September 22, 2008. *Charge 011 at ¶ 19*. The letter was dated September 16, 2008, and signed by Leal. It falsely accused Petitioner of job abandonment and evinces Leal's continuing animus against Petitioner. *Charge 011 at ¶ 19*.

Attendance and punctuality are essential functions of your job position. Please be advised that you have been absent from the worksite and/or you have failed to comply with the worksite procedures regarding attendance on the following days: 9/11/08, 9/12/08, 9/15/08, and 9/16/08... These absences are unauthorized absences which warrant dismissal on the grounds of job abandonment... Your absences will be considered unauthorized until you communicate directly with this administrator. Failure to respond as directed will result in termination due to job abandonment.

The letter also informed Petitioner that he had "three days" from the date of the letter to respond – an impossibility because that date had already passed by the time he received the letter. *Charge 011 at ¶ 20, 21.* Yet, the letter warned: "Failure to respond as directed will result in termination due to abandonment." The letter was courtesy copied to the Regional Director of Personnel and the District Director of the Office of Professional Standards. *Charge 011 at ¶ 20.*

Petitioner's leave application was approved by the Leave Office on September 23, 2008, retroactive to September 8, 2008, thereby mooting Leal's attempt to dismiss him for job abandonment. *Charge 011 at ¶ 24*. However, for several days, he did not know whether or not he had lost his job.

4. Leal Falsely Accuses Petitioner of Misuse of Computer Password

When the first attempt at termination failed, another was quickly initiated. Six days later, on September 29, 2008, Petitioner received a certified letter from Leal, advising him that he had been named as the subject of a formal investigation. *Charge 011 at ¶ 25.*

The allegations were purportedly made by his department chair, Nicholas Cameron, but they were co-signed by Leal. The complaint alleges: "Mr. Koren gave his username and password to a substitute teacher and paraprofessional in order to enter students' grades into the grade book. It is further alleged that within two weeks into the school year, Petitioner allowed a student aide to grade student assignments and enter their grades into the grade book." *Charge 011 at ¶ 26*.

Petitioner denies these allegations. He admits leaving his password for Department Chair Nicholas Cameron, for purposes of having Cameron, at his discretion, facilitate entry of student grades while Petitioner was absent on medical leave. *Charge 011 at ¶ 27*. No misuse of Petitioner's account occurred, as only legitimate student grades were entered.

The accusations against Petitioner were subsequently forwarded to the Miami-Dade County Public Schools' Civilian Investigative Unit ("CIU") and assigned to Investigator Terri A. Chester. *Charge 011 at* ¶ 28. In a letter to Petitioner dated September 30, 2008, informing him of the investigation, Ms.

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