### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC10-2366

Third DCA Case No. 3D09-1932 Consolidated 3D09-1897

## JUSTIN KOREN,

Appellant/Petitioner,

vs.

# SCHOOL BOARD OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA, and PUIBLIC EMPLOYEES RELATIONS COMMISSION,

Appellees/Respondents.

### **APPELLEE SCHOOL BOARD'S ANSWER BRIEF**

On Discretionary Review from the Third District Court of Appeal

> LUIS M. GARCIA, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 969869 JORGE L. LOPEZ, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 0149764 THE SCHOOL BOARD OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA Attorneys for Respondent School Board 1450 Northeast Second Avenue, Suite 400 Miami, Florida 33132 Tel: 305-995-1304 Fax: 305-995-1412

# **

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

#### **II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The summary dismissals of Petitioner's ULP charges by the Public Employees Relations Commission were appropriate not only because Petitioner failed to establish a prima facie case of retaliation, but because PERC lacked subject matter jurisdiction under § 447.501 to entertain such charges. Section 447.501 of the Florida Statutes, entitled "Unfair labor practices," provides, in pertinent part that: (1) Public employers or their agents or representatives are prohibited from: (a) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing public employees in the *exercise of any rights guaranteed them <u>under this part</u>. . . (d) Discharging or discriminating against a public employee because <i>he or she has filed charges or given testimony <u>under this part</u> (emphasis added). The charges filed by Petitioner with PERC, namely that Respondent retaliated against him for assisting a co-worker in filing with Petitioner's employer of a civil rights complaint, involve rights or* 

complaints that are not traditonally filed with PERC, do not constitute a ULP as set forth under section 447.501, and do not fall *under this part* or under Chapter 447 of the Florida Statutes.

Even if the charges filed by Petitioner were properly within PERC's jurisdiction under § 447.501, Fla.Stat., Petitioner has not demonstrated that he has suffered an adverse employment action. Petitioner asserts that he suffered a litany of retaliatory acts for his having assisted a co-worker in the filing of a complaint against his supervisor, but that he ultimately suffered an adverse employment action when he was transferred from his school site. Petitioner's assertion of an adverse employment action must be rejected based upon the alleged facts of this case and the controlling case law of this state, as the actions by Petitioner did not amount to adverse employment action.

Lastly, in order for this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction, conflict between decisions must be express and direct and "must appear within the four corners of the majority opinion." <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). This Court accepted jurisdiction of the present case to review the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal below based on the presumption that it expressly and directly conflicts with the opinion of other district courts cited by Petitioner on the same question of law. Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

However, none of the opinions relied upon by the Third District are in conflict with the decisions cited by Petitioner in his brief on jurisdiction or in his Initial Brief. The Third District's ruling that: "(A) successful claim under this provision [of section 447.501] requires proof that the exercise of statutorily protected conduct motivated the employer to make a threatening or coercive decision or a decision against the employee's interest," is not contrary to the cases cited by Petitioner in his brief. <u>See Koren</u>, 46 So. 3d at 1093. Accordingly, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court, after further consideration, discharge its jurisdiction as improvidently granted and dismiss this review proceeding.

#### **III. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The appropriate standard of review for this Court's determination of whether PERC's dismissal of Petitioner's ULP charges were appropriate is *de novo*. See Cagle v. St. Johns County School District, et al., District Court of Appeal of Florida, 939 So. 2d 1085, 1089 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006). See also Sullivan v. Fla. Dep't of Environmental Protection, 890 So. 2d 417, 420 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004)(finding that review of an agency's statutory interpretation is de novo). However, administrative agencies are "afforded wide discretion in the interpretation of a statute which it is given the power and duty to administer." Republic Media, Inc. v. Department of Transportation, 714 So. 2d 1203, 1205 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998).

Further, "a reviewing court must defer to an agency's interpretation of an operable statute as long as that interpretation is consistent with legislative intent and is supported by substantial, competent evidence." <u>Public Employees Relations</u> <u>Comm'n v. Dade County Police Benevolent Ass'n.</u>,467 So. 2d 987, 989 (Fla.1985). If the agency's interpretation is within the range of possible and reasonable interpretations, it is not clearly erroneous and should be affirmed. <u>Novick v. Dep't of Health, Board of Medicine</u>, 816 So. 2d 1237, 1240 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002).

In addition, courts have long recognized that PERC has developed special expertise in addressing labor issues and is uniquely qualified to interpret and apply the policies enunciated in chapter 447, and its decisions in this area of the law are entitled to considerable deference. <u>See Laborers' Int'l Union of N. Am. v. Greater</u> <u>Orlando Aviation Auth.</u>, 869 So. 2d 608, 610 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004); <u>School Board of</u> <u>Dade County v. Dade Teachers Ass'n.</u>, 421 So. 2d 645, 647 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982).

### IV. ARGUMENT

# A. PERC'S DISMISSAL OF PETITIONER'S CHARGES OF UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICE WAS PROPER BECAUSE IT LACKED SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OVER THESE CLAIMS.

Subject matter jurisdiction does not mean jurisdiction of a particular case, "but rather jurisdiction of the class of cases to which the particular controversy belongs." <u>Payette v. Clark</u>, 559 So. 2d 630, 632 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990); <u>Florida Power</u> and Light Company v. Canal Authority, 423 So. 2d 421 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); South Seas Marine, Inc., v. SAAB, 585 So. 2d 959 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991).

Whether a lower tribunal had subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law which is reviewed de novo. <u>Dep't of Revenue ex rel. Smith v. Selles</u>, 47 So. 3d 916, 918 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010). PERC and other " '[a]dministrative agencies are creatures of statute and have only such powers as statutes confer. <u>State ex rel.</u> <u>Greenb[e]rg v. Florida State Bd. of Dentistry</u>, 297 So. 2d 628, 634 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974).' " <u>Fla. Elections Comm'n v. Davis</u>, 44 So. 3d 1211, 1215 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010) (<u>quoting Fiat Motors of N. Am. v. Calvin</u>, 356 So. 2d 908, 909 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978)).

Courts have routinely acknowledged that subject matter jurisdiction cannot be conferred upon a court by consent, waiver, error, or inadvertence of the parties. <u>Florida Nat. Bank v. Kassewitz</u>, 25 So. 2d 271 (Fla. 1946). The lack of subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time. <u>Tamiami Trail Tours v. Wooten</u>, 47 So. 2d 743 (Fla. 1950). <u>See also In Re A.W.</u>, 230 So. 2d 200 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970); <u>Williams v. Starnes</u>, 522 So. 2d 469 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988); <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 441 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); <u>Department of Military Affairs v. Griffin</u>, 530 So. 2d 1029, (Fla. 1st DCA1988).<sup>1</sup>

Lack of subject matter jurisdiction may also be raised for the first time on appeal. <u>MCR Funding v. CMG Funding Corp.</u>, 771 So. 2d 32, 35 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000); <u>Holub v. Holub</u>, 54 So. 3d 585 (Fla. 1st DCA 2011); <u>See also</u> Fla.R.Civ. P.

In <u>Browning v. Brody</u>, 796 So. 2d 1191, 1193 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001), the court summarized PERC's jurisdiction under § 447.501, Fla.Stat. (2010) in the following manner:

Labor union activities involving public employees are comprehensively regulated by Chapter 447, Part II of the Florida Statutes; commonly known as the Public Employees Relations Act (the Act). Under the Act, the Legislature created PERC, and empowered that administrative agency "to settle disputes regarding alleged unfair labor practices." § 447.503, Fla. Stat. . . The activities prohibited as being "unfair labor practices" are defined in section 447.501 of the Florida Statutes. . . with subsection (1) applying to employer activities and subsection (2) applying to union activities. Case law interpreting the jurisdictional scope of the Act has broadly included, as falling within PERC's exclusive jurisdiction, those activities which "arguably" constitute unfair labor practices as defined by section 447.501 "or the type of labor matter or dispute within the contemplation of Part II, Chapter 447." Maxwell v. School Bd. of Broward County, 330 So. 2d 177, 180 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976); accord Local Union No. 2135, Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters v. City of Ocala, 371 So. 2d 583, 585 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979).

After assuming that PERC had jurisdiction over § 447.501 claims, PERC's General Counsel summarily dismissed Petitioner's charges based upon his determination that the allegations even if true, were insufficient to support a ULP charge (R. 41-50). General Counsel also determined that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the alleged Florida Whistle-blower Act claims, which may be filed in circuit court (R. 41-42). In truth, although PERC had jurisdiction over the charges filed

<sup>1.140(</sup>h)(2) ("The defense of subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time.").

by Petitioner as they did not fall properly within the parameters of § 447.501, Fla.Stat. (2010).

As previously discussed, § 447.501 of the Florida Statutes, prohibits public employers from: "(a) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing public employees in the exercise of any rights guaranteed them under this part. . . (d) Discharging or discriminating against a public employee because he or she has filed charges or given testimony under this part (emphasis added). The original charge filed by Petitioner with PERC on February 21, 2008 involved his alleged assistance to a coworker in the filing of an internal civil rights complaint, it did not involve conduct under subsection (a), nor did it involve alleged retaliation for the filing of a complaint with PERC, since the adverse employment action allegedly resulted from the filing of internal complaint with the Respondent. As such the February 21, 2008 charges were not properly filed with PERC, and did not constitute a ULP as set forth under 447.501. For these reasons, PERC lacked subject matter jurisdiction of these claims.<sup>2</sup>

In reality, Petitioner's claims of discriminatory treatment by his school principal are better suited for adjudication by a circuit court rather than treated as a ULP charge before PERC. Petitioner may concur with this assessment, as he also has a pending case in circuit court against his school principal and Respondent known as *Koren v. School Board of Miami-Dade County and Deborah Leal*, Miami-Dade County Circuit Court Case No. 09-40760 CA-02. While Petitioner may argue that there should be concurrent jurisdiction for these types of claims, a more persuasive argument is that PERC's jurisdiction should not be so expansive that any claim, including traditional employment discrimination claims are

#### B. PERC'S DISMISSAL OF PETITIONER'S ULP CHARGES WAS APPROPRIATE BECAUSE PETITIONER FAILED PRIMA CASE TO ESTABLISH FACIE OF Α 447.501 RETALIATION **UNDER** DUE TO Ş PETITIONER'S INABILITY TO DEMONSTRATE THAT HE SUFFERED AN ADVERSE EMPLOYMENT ACTION.

Although PERC summarily dismissed Petitioner's ULP charges because he had failed to establish a prima facie case of retaliation as set forth in § 447.501, Fla.Stat. (2010), Petitioner nonetheless alleged that there was evidence of retaliatory conduct after he filed an amended ULP charge with PERC on February 6, 2009, almost a year after he filed his original charge with PERC. *Petitioner's Initial Brief* at pp. 33-37. Contrary to Petitioner's contention, his amended ULP charges did not contain sufficient allegations to demonstrate retaliation in violation of § 447.501.

It is undisputed that in order to establish a prima facie claim of retaliation under Title VII, plaintiff must demonstrate that: (1) he engaged in statutorily protected activity, (2) he suffered an adverse employment action, and (3) that there is a causal relation between the two events. <u>Guess v. City of Miramar</u>, 889 So. 2d 840, 846 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004) (<u>citing Harper v. Blockbuster Entertainment Corp.</u>, 139 F. 3d 1385, 1388 (11th Cir.1998); <u>Donovan v. Broward County Board of Commissioners</u>, 974 So. 2d 458 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008). Petitioner argues that this standard has been modified by the Supreme Court and that in order to satisfy the <u>routinely filed with PERC</u>. "adverse employment action" prong Petitioner now ". . .(M)ust show that a reasonable employee would have found the challenged action materially adverse." <u>Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. White</u>, 548 U.S. 53, 68, 126 S. Ct. 2405, 2415 (2006). *Petitioner's Initial Brief* at pp. 21-22.

While in Title VII cases, the standard advanced by Petitioner may be appropriate, it is not fitting for a ULP case presented before PERC. As discussed, *infra*, even assuming that PERC should have applied "the materially adverse action" standard, Petitioner would have still failed to establish a prima facie charge of retaliation under § 447.501.

In PERC's order affirming the General Counsel's summary dismissal of Petitioner's ULP charges, it identified three (3) adverse employment actions: 1) unsuccessful attempts by his principal to have him dismissed from his position for job abandonment; 2) unsuccessful attempts by his school principal to discipline Petitioner for having allowed a student access to the electronic gradebook and sharing his computer password with another staff member; and 3) Petitioner's removal and involuntary transfer from his school site (R. 125-134). See also Attachment VI of Appendix to *Petitioner's Initial Brief*. None of the previously enumerated "adverse employment actions" actually meet the "materially adverse action" standard preferred by Petitioner and employed in Title VII actions in federal court. In his Initial Brief, Petitioner provides a litany of examples of alleged

adverse actions that courts have routinely rejected as constituting materially adverse actions. Only two of the cases cited found the alleged acts to be deemed as materially adverse and in one instance the court did not even find termination of a three month employee as materially adverse. *See Petitioner's Initial Brief* at fn. 5, pp. 20-21.

To treat the alleged adverse actions submitted by Petitioner as constituting retaliation would make almost any act deemed objectionable by an employee as retaliation. A complainant's unhappiness with or dislike or disagreement with a job action does not render the action adverse. <u>MacLean v. City of St. Petersburg</u>, 194 F. Supp. 2d 1290, 1298 (M.D. Fla. 2002); <u>see also Graham v. State of Florida Department of Corrections</u>, 1 F. Supp. 2d 1445, 1450 (M.D. Fla. 1998)(holding that reassignment after employee filed complained of sexual harassment was not adverse). In his brief, Petitioner focuses on the involuntary transfer and asserts that it should be held to constitute adverse employment action using a "post-Burlington" standard. *Petitioner's Initial Brief* at pp. 25-26.

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